STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Beaufort County  
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001776

---

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 12 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOSEPH BOWERS,

Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

### I.

Did the Court of Appeals reversibly err by finding Bowers's appellate challenges to the trial judge's mutual combat and voluntary manslaughter jury instructions were properly preserved for appellate review when defense counsel never presented any specific grounds to the trial judge in support of an objection to either of those charges, raised no objections after the trial judge instructed the jury on mutual combat and voluntary manslaughter as part of his jury charge, and then directly indicated to the trial judge she had no objections to the jury instructions as presented after the trial judge finished instructing the jury on the applicable law?

### II.

Even if Bowers's appellate challenge to the mutual combat jury instruction was somehow properly preserved for appellate review and the trial judge erred by instructing the jury on mutual combat, did the Court of Appeals nonetheless err by reversing Bowers's assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature conviction when the mutual combat instruction could not have resulted in any actual prejudice to Bowers in regard to that specific conviction since the trial judge directly instructed the jury the doctrine of mutual combat did not apply to the charge stemming from the shooting of Green and neither mutual combat nor self-defense was factually applicable to that particular charge based on the evidence presented, which only supported a conclusion Bowers shot Green in the back as that unarmed individual merely attempted to flee?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History

In June of 2012, Respondent Joseph Bowers was arrested following an investigation into a deadly shooting at a club located in Saint Helena Island, South Carolina. In August of 2012, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Bowers for one count of murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. In May of 2013, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Bowers for an additional count of murder along with two counts of attempted murder. On September 29, 2014, a jury trial was commenced in the Beaufort County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., circuit court judge, presiding. During the course of trial, the solicitor withdrew one of the murder indictments. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Bowers of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, one count of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (“ABHAN”), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime while acquitting Bowers of all other charges. Following the verdict, the trial judge sentenced Bowers to concurrent terms of imprisonment of fifteen years for voluntary manslaughter, fifteen years for ABHAN, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Bowers then timely filed and perfected an appeal.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion reversing Bowers’s convictions. State v. Bowers, 428 S.C. 21, 832 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2019). Following the issuance of that decision, the State timely filed a petition for rehearing. Thereafter, on September 20, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied the State’s petition. However, the Court of Appeals issued a revised opinion that still reversed Bowers’s convictions but contained a slight revision to one of the opinion’s footnotes.

### Factual History

Around 1:21 a.m. on June 21, 2012, the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office's 911 call center began receiving calls about a shooting that had occurred at a Saint Helena Island club called Midnight Soul Patrol. (App'x pp. 39-41; pp. 44-45; pp. 47-49; p. 51). In response, law enforcement officers and emergency responders quickly headed to the scene. (App'x p. 44; pp. 48-50; p. 73; p. 142; p. 175). On the way, they located a vehicle containing the body of Dante Bailey, who had been fatally shot in the chest, a short distance away from the club. (App'x pp. 64-65; p. 74; p. 143; p. 175; pp. 238-239). The officers and other emergency responders then continued on, and, upon arriving at the club, they encountered a "chaotic" scene with numerous people yelling, running around, and calling for help. (App'x p. 49; p. 66; p. 69; p. 74). Beyond that, they found Michael Morgan near the back steps of a residence located in front of the club suffering from gunshot wounds to his buttocks and pelvis along with Richard Green on the ground "just outside" the club's side door suffering from a gunshot wound to his back. (App'x p. 58; p. 60; pp. 67-68; pp. 70-71; p. 226; p. 240). Based on their injuries, both men were then rapidly rushed to Beaufort Memorial Hospital. (App'x pp. 68-69; p. 75; pp. 225-227).

After the victims were transported to the hospital, the officers and other emergency responders began attempting to ascertain what had occurred and spoke to various members of a large crowd of approximately eighty people still present at the scene. (App'x p. 76). Through speaking with people in the crowd, the officers obtained information suggesting several individuals, including one called "Opie," fired shots during the incident. (App'x p. 45; p. 47; p. 77). Furthermore, while processing the scene, officers located numerous pieces of evidence, including a nine-millimeter pistol that was registered to Bailey, numerous fired projectiles and

shell casings, a flare gun, a casing from a fired flare, and broken glass from a vehicle. (App'x pp. 51-52; pp. 54-57; pp. 60-61; pp. 147-149; pp. 151-155; p. 159; p. 177; p. 182).

As the investigation into the shooting continued, Investigator Jeremiah Fraser of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office responded to the hospital to speak with the victims of the shooting at the club. (App'x pp. 187-188; p. 225). Once there, Investigator Fraser made contact with Morgan, but he was unable to speak with Green due to the fact Green was unconscious as a result of his injuries.<sup>1</sup> (App'x pp. 82-83; p. 103; pp. 105-106; pp. 188-190; p. 226). During the investigator's conversation with Morgan, Morgan positively identified Bowers, who was also known as "Opie," as the person who shot him.<sup>2</sup> (App'x p. 12; p. 80). However, shortly after that, Morgan's condition began to deteriorate, and he was flown to the Medical University of South Carolina for further treatment. (App'x pp. 226-227; p. 233). Ultimately, by the time Morgan made it to an operating room, he was in cardiac arrest, and he died a short time later as a result of the injuries he had sustained. (App'x pp. 233-234; pp. 240-241).

Several hours after that, Bowers was apprehended near his home and arrested, and Investigator Fraser made contact with Bowers following the arrest. (App'x p. 192). During their ensuing conversation, Bowers claimed he did not have a gun, shoot a gun, or touch Bailey's gun during the incident. (App'x pp. 192-193; p. 202; p. 205). Instead, while refusing to identify any of the people with him at the time, Bowers asserted he went to the club with Bailey on that date, Bailey got into an argument with someone at the club, he pulled Bailey back to their van, someone started shooting at them, Bailey pulled out a gun, Bailey stepped out from behind the

---

<sup>1</sup> While at the hospital, Investigator Fraser also spoke with Robert Goodwine, who had been shot in the calf during the incident. (App'x pp. 102-106; p. 190; p. 227).

<sup>2</sup> During trial, the trial judge ultimately ruled Morgan's statement identifying Bowers as his shooter could not be admitted into evidence after concluding the statement was not a dying declaration under the circumstances involved. (App'x pp. 12-18).

van despite his efforts to stop him, and Bailey was shot and killed.<sup>3</sup> (App'x pp. 194-195).

Following the interview, Bowers went through the booking process, Investigator Fraser took possession of the clothing Bowers was wearing at the time of his arrest, and, after the booking process was completed, Bowers requested to speak with Investigator Fraser one more time. (App'x p. 195; p. 197). Investigator Fraser then once again met with Bowers, and, during that interview, Bowers finally identified the people he went to the club with while further claiming an individual called "T Dog" was the actual shooter. (App'x pp. 196-197).

At the conclusion of the investigation into the shooting, Bowers was indicted for multiple offenses, including murder for killing Morgan and attempted murder for shooting Green, and he ultimately elected to proceed forward to trial. (App'x pp. 6-7; pp. 361-374). During the course of trial, Investigator Fraser recounted Bowers's statements regarding the shooting to the jury while several other witnesses offered varying accounts of what had occurred. (App'x pp. 78-141; p. 194). Through those accounts, a few witnesses indicated they either did not see Bowers with a gun on the night of the shooting or were not aware of him having a gun that night. (App'x pp. 74-85; pp. 87-99). Conversely, one witness—Magnum Smalls—testified he personally observed several individuals, including Bowers, firing shots during the course of a chaotic gunfight that broke out after Bailey arrived at the club with a group of people and Morgan fired a flare gun into the air. (App'x pp. 125-130; pp. 137-139). Smalls further stated he observed Bowers near Bailey after Bailey was shot and Bowers was in possession of a gun that looked like Bailey's weapon at that time. (App'x pp. 130-131; p. 140). However, as his testimony continued, Smalls offered a contradictory account of what transpired and stated he never

---

<sup>3</sup> During trial, testimony was presented establishing Bowers and Bailey were from the same area, and Bailey was described to the jury by defense counsel as "a daddy and a best friend and a big brother" to Bowers. (App'x p. 34; p. 169).

personally saw Bowers shoot a gun during the incident.<sup>4</sup> (App'x pp. 134-136). Beyond that, Green offered his account of what occurred on the night of the incident, testified he was at the nearby home of the owner of the club that night, went outside at some point, heard a gunshot, tried to walk away, and was shot in the back and paralyzed by an unknown assailant as he did so.<sup>5</sup> (App'x pp. 109-111).

In addition to those accounts of the shooting, a recording of a phone call Bowers made while incarcerated subsequent to the incident was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. (App'x pp. 207-210). During that call, Bowers appeared to state: "Even though I ain't kill the boy, I only shoot the boy." (State's Ex. # 39 (Jail Call Recording)). Additionally, the officers and other individuals involved in the investigation into the incident testified about what they discovered in the aftermath of the shooting, and Investigator Andrew Rice of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office specifically noted he verified the rear window of Stanley Humphries's vehicle was missing after he had learned Humphries had his vehicle's window shot out at some point during a visit to the club.<sup>6</sup> (App'x pp. 39-62; pp. 64-71; pp. 73-77; pp. 142-185; pp. 193-205; pp. 213-223; pp. 225-227; pp. 232-235; pp. 237-241). Furthermore, testimony was presented establishing one of the components of gunshot residue was found on the shirt and shorts Bowers was wearing at the time of his arrest, the shell casings collected in the parking lot at the club were fired from Bailey's nine-millimeter pistol, the fired projectiles collected from

---

<sup>4</sup> Oddly, on appeal, the Court of Appeals solely relied upon Smalls's later testimony when analyzing the appellate issues raised after concluding the later testimony had "corrected" Smalls's earlier testimony. (App'x p. 458; p. 466).

<sup>5</sup> Notably, supporting Green's testimony, none of the witnesses who offered accounts of what transpired at the club suggested Green was in any way involved in the incident aside from being shot in the back. (App'x pp. 78-108; pp. 113-141).

<sup>6</sup> During trial, Humphries testified he was the individual who drove Bailey and Bowers to the club on the night of the shooting. (App'x pp. 74-76).

inside the club were fired by Bailey's weapon, and a total of approximately six or seven different guns were fired during the incident based on the variety of shell casings that were found at the scene. (App'x p. 159; pp. 248-249; pp. 254-255; pp. 263-267; p. 272).

Subsequently, at the conclusion of the evidentiary phase, the trial judge conducted an off-the-record charge conference with the parties. (App'x p. 275; p. 292; p. 294; p. 295). Following that discussion, the trial judge indicated on the record he intended to instruct the jury on mutual combat at the solicitor's request and over defense counsel's objection.<sup>7</sup> (App'x p. 295). In support of that instruction, the trial judge noted the testimony presented during trial was somewhat contradictory but could support a mutual combat charge. (App'x p. 295).

Furthermore, the trial judge indicated he intended to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter and self-defense. (App'x p. 296). At that point, defense counsel objected to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, but she provided no grounds in support of her objection. (App'x p. 296). The trial judge then indicated the fact a heated altercation occurred immediately before the shooting supported such a charge. (App'x pp. 296-297). Following that explanation, the trial judge asked the parties if they had anything they wished to put on the record; and defense counsel responded she did not. (App'x p. 297).

Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. (App'x pp. 299-344). In instructing the jury on the law, the trial judge specifically charged the jury in regard to murder, voluntary manslaughter, attempted murder, ABHAN, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, mutual combat, and self-defense. (App'x pp. 328-337). Following the presentation of the jury

---

<sup>7</sup> Earlier during the trial, defense counsel—while arguing Bowers could not be tried for the indicted offenses based on the fact a co-defendant had been acquitted in a separate proceeding— informed the trial judge “the parties agreed to enter into this violent gun battle.” (App'x p. 10).

instructions, the trial judge asked the parties if there were any exceptions or requested additions to the charge as presented. (App'x p. 344). Defense counsel responded: "None, Your Honor." (App'x p. 344). The jurors then began their deliberations. (App'x p. 344).

During the course of the jury's deliberations, the jurors submitted several questions, including one inquiring whether a determination of mutual combat required a finding of culpability as to each of the charges. (App'x pp. 344-351). In responding to that instruction, the trial judge again instructed the jury on mutual combat. (App'x pp. 351-353). Beyond that, the trial judge expressly explained to the jury the doctrine of mutual combat could only be applicable to the charge related to Morgan's murder and *not* to the charges related to any of the other victims due to the fact no evidence was presented to establish the other victims were armed at any point during the incident.<sup>8</sup> (App'x p. 353). Furthermore, the trial judge advised the jurors they must still consider whether the State disproved self-defense in connection to the victims other than Morgan because the doctrine of mutual combat could not negate self-defense in connection to the charges related to those victims since it was not applicable. (App'x pp. 349-350). After presenting those remarks, the trial judge once inquired of defense counsel whether she had any exceptions or requested additions, and defense counsel responded, "No, sir." (App'x p. 350).

Subsequently, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Bowers of voluntary manslaughter in connection to Morgan's death, ABHAN in connection to the shooting of Green, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime while acquitting him of all

---

<sup>8</sup> Before offering that particular explanation, the trial judge conversed with the parties during an off-the-record discussion and then stated on the record he would tell the jury—"based on [their] discussion"—mutual combat could not apply to the attempted murder indictments as a matter of law in Bowers's case. (App'x pp. 345-346).

other charges. (App'x pp. 356-357). The trial judge then sentenced Bowers to an aggregate fifteen-year term of imprisonment. (App'x p. 360).

Following his convictions, Bowers appealed while arguing the trial judge reversibly erred by instructing the jury on mutual combat and voluntary manslaughter. (App'x pp. 376-400; pp. 456-457). Upon considering those contentions, the Court of Appeals reversed. (App'x pp. 456-469). In reversing, the Court of Appeals rejected the State's argument Bowers's appellate issues with the trial judge's jury instructions were not properly preserved for appellate review and waived. (App'x pp. 460-463). After rejecting the State's procedural argument, the Court of Appeals then concluded there was no evidence supporting a jury instruction on mutual combat while further holding the giving of such an instruction constituted reversible error because it negated Bowers's plea of self-defense. (App'x pp. 465-469). Moreover, despite recognizing the trial judge expressly advised the jury mutual combat only related to Morgan's murder and despite finding the evidence related to Green merely established he got shot in the back while innocently attempting to flee, the Court of Appeals found the error in the presentation of the mutual combat instruction also required a reversal of Bowers's ABHAN conviction that stemmed from the shooting of Green based on the "intertwined" nature of the charges and the fact the mutual combat instruction purportedly negated self-defense. (App'x pp. 458-459; p. 469).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal, an appellate court reviewing a trial judge's jury charge must view the charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) (“[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant’s due process rights have been violated.”). When reviewing a jury charge, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”). Moreover, an appellate court will only reverse a trial judge’s decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constitutes an abuse of discretion *resulting in actual prejudice*. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.”); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) (“[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.”).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Did the Court of Appeals reversibly err by finding Bowers's appellate challenges to the trial judge's mutual combat and voluntary manslaughter jury instructions were properly preserved for appellate review when defense counsel never presented any specific grounds to the trial judge in support of an objection to either of those charges, raised no objections after the trial judge instructed the jury on mutual combat and voluntary manslaughter as part of his jury charge, and then directly indicated to the trial judge she had no objections to the jury instructions as presented after the trial judge finished instructing the jury on the applicable law?**

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