**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Beaufort County

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

**DEC 27 2019**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

JOSEPH BOWERS

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001776

\_\_\_\_\_  
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Q. Do you actually get in your van?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. All right. Did Dante get in the van?

A. No, ma'am. He was backing us out. There was cars parked real close to us. There was a telephone pole beside us, and *he was actually directing us out. He was standing at the back passenger side of the van.*

Q. *Did Opie get in the van?*

A. *Yes, ma'am.*

Q. *Did he get out of the -- did he stay in the van?*

A. *We all got out of the van once we realize that Cole [Dante] had been shot.*

Q. All right. What did you see after Cole had been shot?

A. I actually went over there to him and pulled his shirt up, and he had a bullet hole on his right side.

Q. Did you see anyone tending to him?

A. No, ma'am. He was -- he was -- he was already dead.

App. 81, l. 4 – 82, l. 11. (emphasis added).

On direct-examination Stanley initially said that he thought Respondent Joey Bowers left with them but now maintained that he was wrong about that initial assertion. However, he acknowledged on cross-examination that Respondent Bowers was actually the person who “*called out and said, C'mon, let's go.*” App. 82, l. 14 – 84, l. 24. (emphasis added).

Stanley said he did not have a gun that night, Dante Bailey did not have a gun that night, and to the best of his knowledge Respondent Joey Bowers did not have a gun that night. Stanley

confirmed that they were attempting to leave in the van, and that someone shot and killed Dante. Stanley did not know where the shots came from before Dante dropped to the ground, dead. Stanley obviously feared for his life at the time. Stanley also acknowledged that respondent, who was near him, was also under fire. They both wanted to get away to save their lives. App. 84. l. 25 – 86, l. 15.

There was evidence that respondent Joseph Bowers, “Opie,” and Stanley Humphries, “Hump,” were the only two white young men at the club that night. Joe Pope remembered seeing respondent, Stanley, “Mike G., and “Corleon” when he arrived at the club, but he admitted “It happened so fast.” App. 87, l. 4 – 88, l. 23.

Pope acknowledged that Lucas Morgan was the only person he saw with a gun at the club that night. Lucas Morgan was also the only person he saw shooting his gun. Pope acknowledged that Irvin Smalls got into an argument with Lucas Morgan and that Lucas Morgan crouched down by a propane tank. Morgan then began firing his weapon. App. 97, l. 11 – 98, l. 11. (Lucas Morgan was acquitted in a separate trial held about two weeks before respondent’s trial. This Court can also take judicial notice of the fact that the South Carolina Incarcerated Inmate Locator website does not list Lucas Morgan as being incarcerated). App. 8, l. 19 – 9, l. 24. The following occurred during the cross-examination of Pope:

Q. Isn't it true, Mr. Pope, that you never saw Joseph Bowers with a gun, right?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. Okay. And you never saw Joseph Bowers in an argument with anybody that night, right?

A. I don't -- I don't think I know to about.

Q. Okay. Well, that's helpful. Thank you. And isn't it true, Mr. Pope, that you called 911?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. *And you told 911, Hey, look, Lucas Morgan's out here shooting this place up, right?*

A. *Yes, ma'am.*

Q. Okay. And you told them, Richard Green's been hit, right?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay. *And you said, Michael Morgan's [the decedent] been hit, too?*

A. *Yes, ma'am.*

Q. *Right. And did you see Michael get shot?*

A. *No, ma'am.*

Q. Did not. And you didn't see Robert Goodwine get shot, correct?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. Do you know when Michael Morgan got shot? Was it while Lucas was firing? Do you have any idea?

A. Well, when them guys came running through the parking lot, Mikey was standing over Richard with a flare gun, holding it like this, and he didn't see them guys coming.

Q. *Right. Michael had a flare gun, right?*

A. *Yes, ma'am.*

Q. *You saw that flare gun in his hand?*

A. *Yes.*

App. 98, l. 15 – 99, l. 23. (emphasis added).

Pope said all of the four or five men he remembered running across the parking lot shooting toward Michael were black men -- meaning respondent was not one of those men. App. 100, ll. 1 – 17.

Robert Goodwine was one of the men shot at the club that night, and the subject of one of the “attempted murder” indictments. Goodwine testified he was shot by Lucas Morgan. He remembered Morgan “shot at me from the front, but he hit me from the back.” Goodwine testified he was running at the time because Morgan was shooting at him. App. 104, l. 25 – 105, l. 19.

Goodwine confirmed the only two people he saw shooting that night were Lucas Morgan and Dante Bailey, “Cole.” As already seen, Dante Bailey was shot and killed that evening.

Goodwine remembered he got in the van with “Hump,” and “Hump,” who was Stanley Humphries, took him to the hospital. Goodwine said he had seen respondent earlier that evening at the club, but he did not remember respondent being with them when he was driven to the hospital. App. 105, l. 22 – 106, l. 23.

On cross-examination, Goodwine confirmed that he was around Dante Bailey and Joey Chaplin while at the club. App. 107, l. 14 – 108, l. 8. Goodwine acknowledged that Chaplin was black.

Richard Green was the victim of the other attempted murder charge. App. 108, l. 14 – 109, l. 23. Green confirmed he was at the Midnight Soul Patrol club on the evening of June 21, 2012. He remembered “hanging out” for a while at the club before he went to the owner’s house nearby. “That’s when I heard the first gunshot, so I moved. I walked off a little bit, and that’s when I felt I got shot, with a second one.” App. 110, ll. L – 5. Green did not know who shot

him. Green was paralyzed as a result of the shot, and he was in a wheelchair. App. 110, ll. 9 – 10.

Alvin Wilson was also at the club that night. He estimated there were about seventy-five people at the club – it was a busy night. Wilson did not know respondent, but he confirmed he only saw two white people at the club. App. 113, l. 10 – 115, l. 16.

Wilson was in the DJ booth in the club, and he played music. Wilson said he “shut the music down” because “an altercation was going on, like I said, I said, the party is over.” App. 116, ll. 8 – 25.

Wilson did not see anyone shooting but he saw his cousins, Michael Morgan and Richard Green, “laying on the ground outside.” App. 117, ll. 5 – 25. Lucas Morgan was also related to Wilson. App. 118, l. 24 – 119, l. 1. Wilson, nonetheless, admitted that he saw Lucas Morgan with a gun that evening. App. 124, ll. 13 – 15.

Magnum Smalls was a regular at the Midnight Soul Patrol club. On the night of the shooting he remembered shaking hands with Dante Bailey. Smalls recalled about fifteen minutes later that Dante Bailey and a man named Arthur were “having words.” App. 125, l. 6 – 126, l. 25. Another man, “D Grant,” got in-between the two men, and “was pretty much walking away from everybody else, like diffusing the problem . . . after that guns [were] flashed . . . like I said, they walked away pretty much from like everybody else, and they were talking – D Grant was talking to both of them. And then the flare gun went off, after the flare gun went off, all chaos broke loose. Everybody pretty much started shooting.” Smalls confirmed that decedent Michael Morgan was unfortunately the person who fired the flare gun. App. 127, l. 1 – 128, l. 22. (emphasis added).

Smalls said when the shooting ended, he saw Dante Bailey, Michael Morgan, and Richard Green on the ground. As seen, Dante Bailey and Michael Morgan were killed, and Richard Green was badly wounded. App. 130, ll. 2 – 8.

Smalls saw Respondent Joey Bowers standing near his friend Dante, and he maintained respondent picked up Dante's semi-automatic handgun while they were attempting to get Dante inside of the vehicle. App. 130, l. 10 – 131, l. 16. Smalls then gave contradictory statements, saying he saw respondent earlier with a gun, but he admitted at a prior deposition that he said he never saw respondent shoot a gun that evening. App. 131, l. 12 – 135, l. 7.

On cross-examination, defense counsel pointed out the different statements given by Smalls. Smalls admitted he did not see respondent with a gun that night, and that he only saw respondent pick up Dante's gun when they were helping him into the vehicle after Donte had been shot. Smalls repeated he did *not* see respondent shoot the gun however. App. 136, l. 14 – 138, l. 1.

The following occurred on cross-examination of Smalls:

Q. But you've also -- but, you know, *you actually saw the first shot go off, and that was Mikey Morgan, right?*

A. *Right.*

Q. *Okay. And that was him firing his flare gun?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. So, that's one shot right there?

A. *Right.*

Q. And then you saw Lewis Melvin Johnson, Dolla, shooting out the side door of the club, right?

A. *Yes.*

Q. Okay. So that's two. And they're not firing at the same time, right?

A. Right.

Q. Okay. *So, it's the flare gun, and then Dolla, and then Lucas firing, correct?*

A. *Correct.*

Q. Okay. And then I think also you would say that you saw *Arthur Chaplin firing his gun across the parking lot, right?*

A. *Correct.*

Q. Okay. *Would it also be fair to say that you saw Joseph Bowers trying to assist Cole while Cole was on the ground and had been shot?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. Now, you, I guess, would also agree with me that you saw people with guns that night, at that Midnight Soul Patrol?

A. (Nods in the affirmative.)

Q. *And the people that you saw were Arthur Chaplin?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *Also known as Krum?*

A. *Correct.*

Q. *Okay. Dante Bailey?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *Also known as Cole?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. *And these are the two gentlemen that you say were in a little verbal altercation over something?*

A. *Yes.*

Q. How about, didn't you see Derrick Grant with a gun that night?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And is that the man you say kind of separated those two?

A. Yes.

Q. And you saw Terry Thornton with a gun that night, T Dog?

A. Yes.

Q. And, of course, you -- we established that you saw Lucas Morgan with a gun?

A. Correct.

Q. And you saw Mikey with a gun?

A. Correct.

Q. And you saw Dolla, Lucas Melvin Johnson, with a gun?

A. Correct.

Q. And you also saw Stanley Humphries, the other white fellow, with a gun, didn't you?

A. Yes.

App. 137, l. 7 – 139, l. 15. (emphasis added).

Investigator Jeremiah Fraser testified that he talked to Michael Morgan, who “was in obvious pain,” after being shot, and Lucas Morgan. Fraser said he took respondent into custody the same day. App. 189, l. 1 – 192, l. 18.

Investigator Fraser testified respondent told him he was pulling Dante Bailey, “Cole,” back into the van, that Cole “wouldn’t listen to him,” and that “Cole stepped out from behind the van and he was shot. That was pretty much the extent of it.” App. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 11.

On cross-examination, Investigator Fraser admitted that he told respondent five times “look, Joe, just tell me you picked up the gun. If you picked up the gun, you did it in self-defense.” Fraser acknowledged that respondent nonetheless told him he did not have a gun, and that he did not shoot anyone. App. 201, l. 21 – 202, l. 10.

The state also introduced a phone call made by respondent from the jail in which he said “I ain’t killed the boy. I only shot the boy.” When moving for a directed verdict, defense counsel said this statement was in “essence a denial of killing anyone, and at best an admission that, to his own internal belief, that he may have shot someone.” App. 207, l. 24 – 210, l. 6. App. 275, l. 9 – 277, l. 5. The judge said the jail call now raised a jury question, and that he could not end the trial by directing a verdict given that jail call. App. 277, l. 6 – 279, l. 20; 281, ll. 1 – 10.

### **Mutual Combat Instruction**

The judge told defense counsel that he, in addition to charging self-defense, had been reading about the legal concept of “mutual combat”. App. 281, l. 23 – 284, l. 4. The judge observed that he was concerned about that charge because he had read one case where Judge John Hayes had been reversed “for submitting” a mutual combat instruction. That case was State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E. 2d 1 (2003). App. 283, l. 25 – 284, l. 4.

At the charge conference, defense counsel objected to the judge instructing the jury on “mutual combat.” App. 295, l. 3 – 296, l. 15. In addition to objecting to the “mutual combat” instruction, defense counsel also told the judge that she objected to him charging voluntary manslaughter over her objection. App. 295, l. 3 – 297, l. 16.

Following the charge conference, the solicitor told the judge that the state was dismissing the murder indictment against respondent involving Dante Bailey, who went with respondent to

the club that night, and who there was evidence respondent was trying to keep out of danger's way at the time Dante was shot and killed. App. 297, l. 21 – 298, l. 23.

### **Instructions on the Law**

The judge, over objection, charged the jury on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. App. 329, l. 18 – 331, l. 19. As to “mutual combat” the judge charged the jury:

Now, I want to discuss with you a part of the theory that you'll have to consider, and it's known as mutual combat. And this law provides that *if a Defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat for the purpose other than protection, the killing of a victim would not be self-defense. This is true even if during the combat the Defendant feared death or serious bodily injury.*

However, if before the killing is committed the Defendant withdraws and tried in good faith to avoid further conflict, and either by word or act makes that fact known to the victim, he would be without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

For mutual combat there must be a mutual intent and a willingness to fight. This intent may be shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and circumstances surrounding the combat.

In addition, it must be shown by that -- be shown that both parties were armed with a deadly weapon.

App. 333, l. 15 – 334, l. 8. (emphasis added).

The judge also charged the jury on self-defense. App. 334, l. 9 – 337, l. 9. The judge reminded the jury as to self-defense that if the jury found “mutual combat,” he told the jurors “*Then self-defense goes out the window, so to speak. Not available.*” App. 340, ll. 13 – 23. (emphasis added).

## ARGUMENT

1.

Respondent's objection to jury charge on mutual combat was well preserved for appellate review since the mutual combat case of *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003) was discussed by the trial judge, and defense counsel specifically objected to jury instruction on mutual combat at the charge conference.

As seen above, defense counsel objected to instructing the jury on "mutual combat," and voluntary manslaughter. Mutual combat had earlier been discussed at the directed verdict stage, and the judge talked about Judge [John] Hayes getting reversed for charging it in *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003). The judge instructed the jury on both over respondent's objection. App. 281, l. 23 – 284, l. 4; app. 295, l. 3 – 297, l. 16.

The judge specifically noted the defense's objection to him charging the jury on mutual combat, and counsel also objected to his charge on voluntary manslaughter. Once her objections and position were placed on the record as to the jury instructions with the judge at the charge conference, she was not obligated to continue to object. *State v. Johnson*, 333 S.C. 62, 65, n. 1, 508 S.E.2d 29, 31, n. 1.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that "once a party objects to a jury charge and, after opportunity for discussion, is denied on the record, no further action is necessary in order to preserve the issue for appeal." *State v. Johnson*, 333 S.C. 62, 64, n. 1, 508 S.E.2d 29, 30 n. 1 (1998). App. 460. The Court further observed, quoting this Court, "instead of being hypertechnical, we approach preservation with a practical eye." *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 644 (2011). App. 460. The Court of Appeals correctly found it

was apparent from the record “[t]hat the trial judge and the state understood appellant was objecting because he thought there was no evidence to support the charge.” App. 462.

The Court of Appeals correctly found the objection to the mutual combat jury instruction was preserved and cited State v. Taylor as an example of a case where the facts did not justify a jury instruction on mutual combat. App. 463 – 464. On the merits, the court found that the charge on mutual combat was improper and that respondent was prejudiced. App. 465 – 469. Certiorari should be denied on the state’s error preservation ground.

2.

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